AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

DOUGLAS SCHOOL COMMITTEE

And

DOUGLAS TEACHERS ASSOCIATION

September 1, 2017 - August 31, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE | <u>NAME</u> | PAGE |
|---------------|---|--------------|
| | PREAMBLE | 1 |
| ARTICLE I | RECOGNITION | |
| ARTICLE IA | MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPON | SIBILITIES 1 |
| ARTICLE II | NO STRIKE PROVISION | |
| ÀRTICLE III | VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS | |
| ARTICLE IV | ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS | |
| ARTICLE V | WORK DAY | |
| ARTICLE V | REDUCTION IN FORCE | 6 |
| ARTICLE VI | POSITIONS IN SUMMER SCHOOL, EVE | |
| AKIICLE VII | SCHOOL AND UNDER FEDERAL PROG | RAMS 9 |
| ARTICLE VIII | SICK, BEREAVEMENT AND PERSONAL | LLEAVE 9 |
| ARTICLE VIII | EXTENDED LEAVES OF ABSENCE | 12 |
| ARTICLE X | PROFESSIONAL IMPROVEMENT | |
| ARTICLE XI | TEACHER EVALUATION | |
| ARTICLE XII | GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE | 18 |
| ARTICLE XIII | PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION | 21 |
| ARTICLE XIV | MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS | 22 |
| ARTICLE XV | SALARIES AND OTHER COMPENSATI | ON 23 |
| ARTICLE XVI | SCHOOL NURSE | |
| ARTICLE XVII | SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS CLAUS | SE 25 |
| ARTICLE XVIII | IMPLEMENTATION OF CONTRACT | 26 |
| ARTICLE XIX | HONORARIA | 26 |
| ARTICLE XX | MANDATORY SCHOLARSHIP FUND | |
| THETTOMA | CONRIBUTION | |
| ARTICLE XXI | DISTRIBUTION OF AGREEMENT | 27 |
| ARTICLE XXII | WAIVER | , 27 |
| ARTICLE XXIII | STABILITY OF AGREEMENT | , 28 |
| ARTICLE XXIV | DURATION OF AGREEMENT | 28 |
| | APPENDIX A: DOUGLAS SALARY SC | HEDITLE 29 |
| | APPENDIX A: DOUGLAS SALART BC. APPENDIX B: HEALTH BENEFITS | 30 |
| | APPENDIX C: CO-CURRICULAR SALA | ARTES 33 |
| | SIDE LETTER | 35 |

PREAMBLE

The Douglas School Committee and the Douglas Teachers Associations have entered into the following Agreement, sometimes hereinafter referred to as the Contract, for the express purpose of fixing, for its effective term, the salaries, hours and conditions of employment of the recognized professional personnel.

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

The Douglas School Committee recognizes the Douglas Teachers Association and its affiliates, the Massachusetts Teachers Association and the National Education Association, as the agencies through which the teachers of the Douglas school system develop and represent their considered opinion on matters of concern to them. The School Committee agrees to give due consideration to proposals and representation made on behalf of the Douglas Teachers Association.

The Douglas School Committee, sometimes hereinafter referred to as the Committee, hereby also recognizes the Douglas Teachers Association, as the exclusive representative and bargaining agents of all certified professional employees below the rank of Assistant Principal or any administrator not teaching 50 percent or more of the school days, including the School Nurse, but excluding temporary per diem substitutes in teaching and related activities in the Douglas School System.

The Committee shall not discriminate in any way against a teacher for reason of his/her membership in the Association or participation in its lawful activities, nor for religious and political beliefs, providing that these are not exercised on the school premises during school hours and do not interfere with the regular performance of duties.

ARTICLE IA MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Unless specifically abridged by a provision of this Agreement, the Douglas School District (the "District") shall have all the powers, authority and prerogatives necessary or impliedly granted to it under the statutes, laws, and regulations of the Commonwealth. The District recognizes that with its authority comes the responsibility to protect the rights of employees to be free from unlawful discrimination based upon race, sex, religion, national origin, and age, as defined by federal and state anti-discrimination laws, to provide a safe working environment, and to insure that employees' rights to due process are not abridged. To that end, notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the District shall take action to redress unlawful discrimination, lack of due process, and unsafe conditions. The rights of the District shall include:

- 1. To direct the educational affairs, operations and services of the District and its schools;
- 2. To direct, supervise and evaluate employees;
- 3. To conduct professional improvement programs;
- 4. To evaluate and determine the educational curriculum;
- 5. To set and modify the daily and yearly school and class schedule, subject to the limitations contained in Article V (Work Day) of this Agreement;
- 6. To determine the organization and number of personnel in the District and its schools;
- 7. To assign and transfer employees;
- 8. To determine whether goods or services should be made, purchased or leased;
- 9. To hire, appoint and promote;
- 10. To demote, suspend, discipline or discharge teachers and employees; teachers with professional status and permanent employees may only be demoted, suspended, disciplined or discharged for just cause;
- 11. To determine class size;
- 11a. To institute technological change from time to time; provided, however, if there is a technological change affecting a teacher, the Principal shall consult with such teacher prior to the implementation of the change. If the teacher is not compatible with the change, the Principal will provide relevant training before implementing the change as to that teacher.
- 12. To make and enforce rules and regulations, consistent with the other terms of this Agreement;

This Article shall not be the basis of a grievance or arbitration proceeding pursuant to Article XII, provided, however, that rights expressly granted to the Association by other specific provisions of this Agreement shall supercede this Article and shall be subject to the grievance procedure unless otherwise indicated.

ARTICLE II NO STRIKE PROVISION

The Douglas Teachers Association agrees that, under no circumstances will it authorize, sanction, condone, acquiesce in, or take part in, any strike or work stoppage of any kind or nature. Strike and work stoppages shall be deemed to include, but are not limited to: slow

downs, sit-ins, concerted mass sickness or any curtailment of work or interference with the operation of the Douglas School System, including picketing or demonstrating of any kind during school hours. The Association further agrees that it will not engage in any sanction activities or other terms of boycotts.

In the event of any action by the Association, or by any of its members, in violation of this provision, the Association will post notices immediately at all schools affected, advising that such action is unlawful, in violation of this Agreement, and unauthorized by the Teachers Association. The Teachers Association shall further advise any and all teachers involved, including notification to the news media if requested by the School Committee, that such teachers are in violation of the Agreement and that all teachers involved shall return forthwith to their regular duties. The Teachers Association shall further be expected to take any and all other actions reasonably within its power to stop the activity. If the Teachers Association takes the foregoing steps and has not acted in violation of its obligations under this Agreement, it shall not be liable in any way for such activities.

In the event the Teachers Association does not adhere to, or abide by this provision, it shall be held liable for any and all damages, injuries and costs incurred by the School Committee.

ARTICLE III VACANCIES AND PROMOTIONS

- A. Procedure. Vacancies in professional positions excepting that of Superintendent, shall be filled in accordance with the following procedures:
 - 1. <u>Notification of Vacancy</u>: Vacancies shall be publicized by the Superintendent who, during the school year (September-June), shall cause a notice to be placed on the Association bulletin boards in every school facility as far in advance of the appointment deadline as possible. During July and August, written notice of any vacancies shall be given to the Association president and the Association building representatives and secretary.
 - 2. <u>Qualifications</u>: Qualifications for the positions, including the duties and rate of compensation, shall be stated in the notice of vacancy.
 - 3. <u>Time Limitations</u>: The deadline for submission of applications will be clearly stated in the notice of vacancy. Every effort will be made to provide adequate time and opportunity for qualified teachers, within the Douglas School system, to make applications. Vacancies will be filled within sixty (60) days from either the date the vacancy notice is posted on the Association bulletin boards, or the date notification is mailed to the Association president and Association building representatives, provided that a qualified candidate acceptable to the Committee has made an application. No vacancy will be filled, except on a temporary basis, prior to seven (7) days from the date said notice is posted or mailed. Teachers who desire to apply for vacant positions shall submit their applications in writing to the Superintendent or his/her authorized agent within the time limit specified in the notice of vacancy.

4. Appointments: Vacant positions shall be filled on the basis of professional qualifications, seniority in the Douglas school system, and other relevant factors. Preference will be given to qualified teachers already employed by the School Committee. Each applicant employed under this contract not selected will be notified, in writing, as to the outcome of his/her application by the Superintendent or his/her authorized agent. Any unsuccessful applicant, who comes under this contract, may request a private meeting with the Superintendent to discuss his/her application. This request must be made within ten (10) days of when the appointment is made. Appointments will be made without regard to race, creed, color, religion, nationality, sex or marital status.

ARTICLE IV ASSIGNMENTS AND TRANSFERS

A. General

The School District and the Association recognize that changes in assignments and/or transfers are sometimes required in the best interest of the school system.

B. Definitions

- 1. <u>ASSIGNMENT</u> Assignment is defined as a specific grade level or levels or a specific subject or group of subjects to be taught by a teacher in a particular school year. A teacher will normally be notified of his/her assignment for the next school year, or any expected change therein, on or about June 1 of the present school year.
- 2. TRANSFER A transfer is defined as a change in assignment which occurs during a particular school year. It may or may not involve physical relocation from one building to another.

C. Transfers and Changes in Assignments

- 1. A transfer or change in assignment shall be made on the basis of (1) the needs of the school system, (2) the expressed desire of the teacher concerned, and (3) individual teacher qualifications. When it is not possible to satisfy all three conditions, the decision will be made first, according to the needs of the School System; second, in accordance with the expressed desire of the teacher concerned; third, where the Administration believes the teacher is best qualified to serve based on the individual teacher qualifications; and fourth, all things being equal, seniority. Whenever these conditions are equally met, volunteers shall be transferred or reassigned first.
- 2. An involuntary transfer or change in assignment will be made only after a meeting between the teacher concerned, the appropriate Principal and the Superintendent, at which time every effort will be made to resolve the matter to the satisfaction of all concerned. If the teacher concerned so desires, a representative designated by the Association may be present at this meeting.

3. Teachers who desire a transfer or change in assignment shall file a written request with the Superintendent via the appropriate Principal. Such request will state the new assignment desired. When two or more teachers request the same assignment, the judgment of the administration shall determine the selection of the person for the assignment. Such judgment shall give due consideration to professional qualifications, seniority in the Douglas School System, and other relevant factors.

ARTICLE V WORK DAY

A. Definitions

- 1. Work Day The teachers' work day will not exceed a maximum of seven continuous hours. The work day for teachers will commence, and teachers must be at school, fifteen (15) minutes prior to the time when students are to report to homeroom. Teachers may leave fifteen (15) minutes after the student day ends. Except in emergency situations, it is understood by the parties that it is not the responsibility of the teachers to supervise students who arrive before or depart after the teacher work day ends. Where students are dismissed early, or are not required to attend school due to teacher in-service, or where time has otherwise been set aside for teacher meetings, teachers' working hours will be set by the District subject to the seven hour maximum. School hours pertaining to students will normally be set, for a given school year, on or before May 1 preceding the start of that school year. The superintendent will be responsible for setting school hours but will receive and consider any input the Douglas Teachers' Association desires to provide through its Executive Committee.
- 2. <u>High School Job Description</u> Teachers in the High School will teach in areas of certification/licensure and/or according to State Law. Teaching assignments will normally consist of five (5) teaching periods, one (1) administrative period, and one (1) preparation period. Duties of the administrative period and other duties, when not a study hall, shall be handled in an equitable manner. A teacher with professional teacher status may request an extra teaching period and mutually agree with the administration to teach a sixth period in lieu of an administration period. The teacher will be compensated an additional \$6000 for teaching the sixth class. Every effort will be made to maintain a normal rotation of other duty assignments. All High School teachers will be guaranteed a daily duty-free lunch period. No high school academic teacher who has been assigned courses requiring more than four (4) preparations. A high school teacher who has been assigned courses requiring four (4) preps or other extenuating circumstances, such as advanced placement courses or honors courses, may meet with the Principal to request relief. When possible, accommodations will be made.
- 3. Middle School Job Description Teachers in the Middle School, including specialists and special education teachers, will be guaranteed a fifty (50) minute preparation period daily. All Middle School teachers will be guaranteed a thirty (30) minute duty free lunch period. Every effort will be made to maintain a normal rotation of duties. On an annual basis prior to the beginning of the upcoming school year, the principal will meet with a

building representative appointed by the DTA in order to review by mutual process the assignment and rotation of duties.

- 4. Primary School and Elementary School Job Description Teachers in the Primary School and Elementary School, including specialists and special education teachers, will be guaranteed a fifty (50) minute preparation period daily. All Primary School and Elementary School teachers will be guaranteed a thirty (30) minute duty free lunch period. Every effort will be made to maintain a normal rotation of other duty assignments. On an annual basis prior to the beginning of the upcoming school year, the principal will meet with a building representative appointed by the DTA in order to review by mutual process the assignment and rotation of duties.
- 5. <u>Faculty Meetings</u> Faculty Meetings will generally be the first Monday of each month and usually not to exceed one hour in length.
- 6. School Year The school year will consist of 183 days (180 teaching days plus one day preceding the first student day) and two (2) professional development days. The first student day will be scheduled for the Tuesday of the week prior to Labor Day; the first teacher day will be scheduled for the Monday of the same week. No teacher or student day will take place on the Friday prior to the Labor Day holiday. The school year will not extend beyond June 30. All teachers will report for work the day before students return to school at the start of the school year.
- 7. <u>Class Size</u> The Superintendent recognizes that class size is an important factor in good education, and will, to the extent possible, within the financial ability of the District to do so, maintain class sizes that are appropriate to the educational needs of the students.
- 8. Evening Meetings Teachers will be required to attend two (2) evening meetings per school year. These meetings will not exceed three (3) hours, and teachers will be released early on the days such meetings are held.

ARTICLE VI REDUCTION IN FORCE

A. General

It is the School District's responsibility and policy to maintain good public schools and to obtain the most qualified applicants from all available sources. However, if it becomes necessary to eliminate certified staff positions, a fair and orderly process will be followed.

- 1. In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of employees in the bargaining unit, the Superintendent will take into consideration the length of service in the Douglas School System and the teacher's area of certification. If the above two are equal, the next area will be teacher evaluations based on annual evaluations.
- .2. An employee whose position is eliminated shall:

- a. Be transferred to an open position for which the employee is certified.
- b. Replace an employee with the lower seniority within the Douglas School System whose position the senior employee is certified and qualified to fill.

B. Definitions

- 1. "Qualified" means that the teacher has on file with the office of the Superintendent evidence that he/she possesses the necessary qualifications as outlined in the School District job description, by the effective date of the layoffs which is the beginning of the school year.
- 2. "Certified" means that the teacher has on file with the office of the Superintendent evidence that he/she possesses the necessary certification by the effective date of the layoff.
- 3. "Seniority" means a teacher's length of service in year, months and days of current employment in the Douglas School System. In cases involving teachers who have identical seniority, preference for retention shall be given to the teacher who has achieved the highest level of any degrees as of September 1 in each school year as described in the compensation schedule.

C. Procedure

- 1. The Douglas Teachers Association will be notified, in writing, on or before June 1 if a reduction-in-force is necessary.
- 2. Teachers who are to be affected by a reduction-in-force must be notified, in writing, no later than June 1 of the school year preceding the year in which the reduction will take effect.
- 3. While members of the bargaining unit continue on layoff, the School District agrees not to hire any new teachers unless:
- a. No teacher on layoff is qualified to fill a position, nor could be qualified with retraining; and
- b. All qualified teachers on layoff declined to fill the vacancy.

D. Recall

I. Teachers who have been laid off shall be entitled to recall rights for a period of two years. During the recall period, teachers shall be notified, by certified mail to their last address of record, at least ten (10) school days prior to the anticipated date of reemployment, and given preference for positions as they develop in the inverse order of their respective layoff. The laid off employee shall, within five (5) school days after mailing of notice of recall by certified mail and return receipt requested, file acceptance of their intention to return or not return. If such acceptance is not received by the

Superintendent's office at the end of five (5) school days, it shall be considered a declination and a resignation from the school system by the teacher, unless there are extenuating circumstances approved by the Superintendent. A maternity or illness situation shall constitute extenuating circumstances so that an employee will maintain his/her position in the recall pool.

- 2. All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time of layoff shall be restored in full upon re-employment.
- 3. During the recall period, teachers who have been laid off shall be given preference on the substitute and aide lists if they so desire.
- 4. If a laid-off employee is not rehired at the end of the two-year period, and is otherwise eligible for retirement and has applied for retirement with the Massachusetts Retirement Board, then those employees will be entitled to payment for an accumulated sick leave or retirement in accordance with whatever provisions are contained in the Collective Bargaining Agreement with respect to the subject.

E. Seniority List

A list specifying the seniority of each member of the bargaining unit shall be prepared by the Superintendent and forwarded to the President of the Association within thirty (30) days following the execution of this Agreement. An updated "Seniority List" shall be supplied by the School District on or before October 1 annually thereafter.

F. Disputes

Any allegation that there has been violation of this section will not be subject to or processed through the grievance and arbitration procedure provided by this Agreement, but will instead be discussed between the teacher and his/her Principal, then between the teacher and the Superintendent. Should resolution of the problem not be effected, the allegation will be submitted for deliberation and advice directly to an Ad Hoc Committee which will be composed of three persons, one person to be selected by the Superintendent, one person to be selected by the Association and two (2) selectees shall choose the third person. Upon completion of its deliberations, the Ad Hoc Committee will report its findings and recommendation to the Superintendent. The recommendation must state which teachers should be retained. The Superintendent shall take prompt and final action in accordance with the findings and recommendations of the Ad Hoc Committee. It is the intention of the parties that, whenever they deem it to be appropriate, a reasonable effort will be made to select, as their respective members of the Ad Hoc Committee, persons who are or have been members of the educational profession. Any expenses incurred by either party in preparation for or in making presentations to the Ad Hoc Committee will be borne by the party incurring such expenses.

ARTICLE VII POSITIONS IN SUMMER SCHOOL, EVENING SCHOOL AND UNDER FEDERAL PROGRAMS

- A. All openings for academic summer school and evening school instructor positions and for positions under federal programs will be publicized by the Superintendent or Principal in each school building as early as possible, and teachers who have applied for such positions will be notified of the action taken regarding their applications as early as possible. Under normal circumstances, summer school and evening openings will be publicized not later than the preceding March 1 and June 1, respectively, and teachers will be notified of the action taken not later than May 1 and September 1 respectively.
- B. Positions in the Douglas summer school and evening school and positions under state and federal programs will, to the extent possible, be filled first by regularly appointed teachers in the Douglas School System.
- C. In filling such positions, consideration will be fairly given to a teacher's area of competence, major and/or minor field of study, quality of teaching performance, attendance record, length of service in the Douglas School System, and in regard to summer or evening school positions, previous Douglas summer school or evening school teaching experience.

ARTICLE VIII SICK, BEREAVEMENT AND PERSONAL LEAVE

A. Sick Leave

It is recognized by all that absences by regular teachers from the classroom interrupt the educational process and should therefore be held to an absolute minimum.

- 1. Per Month -1 1/2 Days: Teachers will earn sick leave at a rate of one and one half (1 1/2) days for each month for a maximum of fifteen sick leave days a year to be accrued on the first of each month.
- 2. <u>Cumulative Sick Leave -150 Days</u>: The fifteen (15) working days per school year for sick leave shall be cumulative to a maximum of one hundred fifty (150) days with full pay.
- 3. <u>Unusual Circumstances</u>: Under unusual circumstances of hardship, the Superintendent or the Principal with the approval of the Superintendent may grant additional sick leave days with compensation.
- 4. Examination by Physician: The Superintendent or Principal may require a teacher to present a certificate from a physician for absence exceeding five (5) consecutive days. The Principal and Superintendent shall have the right to require an examination of a teacher in cases of prolonged or chronic absence. The examining doctor will be chosen by the teacher from a list of doctors supplied by the School District, such list to contain the names of more than one (1) doctor. This examination will be paid for by the School District.

- 5. <u>Sick Leave Bank (SLB)</u>: The School District agrees to the establishment of Sick Leave Bank (SLB) for the purpose of aiding seriously ill teachers who have exhausted their accumulated sick leave allowance. The SLB will be established in compliance with the following provisions:
 - The SLB will be organized and administered by the Douglas Teachers Association.
 - b. Participation in the SLB will be voluntary.
 - c. . Donations to the SLB will be limited to one sick leave day per teacher per school year.
 - d. Notification of teachers donating to the SLB must be made, in writing, on or before November 1 each year to the secretary of the Superintendent. This notification must contain the signature of each teacher donating to the SLB plus that of the President of the Teachers Association or his/her designated representative. Teachers, except new teachers entering the system during the school year, whose names do not appear on the November 1 notification, shall not be allowed to join the SLB until the following school year.
 - e. A teacher who donates a sick leave day to the SLB will have such day irrevocably deducted from his personal accumulated sick leave, and may make no further use of this day, for any purpose, except as authorized under the provisions of the SLB.
 - f. Use of sick leave days from the SLB will be accounted for by the Administration in the same manner as is use of individual sick leave, except that a withdrawal of sick leave days from the SLB will be made only when authorized in writing by the President of the Douglas Teachers Association or his/her designated representative. Such authorization for withdrawal must state the number of days and the name of the teacher to whom the days are to be credited.
 - g. Donations to the SLB can only be made on November 1 each year. The SLB cannot exceed 360 days at any time. No teacher can draw more than 185 days for any one illness.
 - (1) The total accumulated sick leave in the bank shall not exceed 360 days at any one time. In the event that an annual contribution would cause the number of days to exceed 360, then no such contribution will be made, except that teachers new to the District or previously unenrolled will be allowed to contribute and join.
 - (2) In the event that the number of days in the bank should fall below 50, then an additional contribution will be made by Sick Leave Bank members.

- h. The Association shall require medical documentation in accordance with paragraph f. from each teacher seeking to use SLB time. The Superintendent or Principal may verify and inspect the medical documentation.
- i. The SLB Committee may require a second opinion from an Independent Medical Examiner. The cost of the independent medical examination will be borne by the employer.
- j. The decision of the SLB Board with respect to eligibility and entitlement shall be final and binding and not subject to appeal except for reconsideration by the Board itself.

B. Sick Leave - Other Uses

In addition to absence for personal illness or injury, sick leave may be used for personal illness, an emergency, illness or injury in the immediate family (defined as father, mother, brother, sister, son, daughter, husband, wife, or other person residing in the same household as the teacher) or to make arrangements for necessary medical and/or nursing care for the immediate family.

A teacher may be granted a maximum of ten (10) days absence per school year with full pay, each day to be deducted from the teacher's accrued sick leave. A teacher may be entitled to additional leave without pay to care for a family member with a serious health condition. Such leave must be requested in accordance with the District's Family and Medical Leave Policy, and is subject to the medical certification and other requirements of the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. The Superintendent or Principal may verify a sick leave absence.

Other Reasons: Sick leave may be used for other reasons with the approval of the Superintendent. A teacher may be entitled to additional leave without pay to care for a family member with a serious health condition. Such leave must be requested in accordance with the District's Family and Medical Leave Policy, and is subject to the medical certification and other requirements of the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993.

C. Bereavement and Personal Leave

In addition to sick leave, a teacher is entitled to the following leaves:

1. Bereavement Leave

- a. In the event of a death of a teacher's spouse or child, a teacher shall be allowed a maximum of five (5) days with full pay, if these five days would normally have been teaching days, and if they immediately follow the death of the spouse or child concerned.
- b. In the event of a death of a teacher's mother, father, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, or other person residing in the same household as the teacher, a teacher shall be allowed a maximum of five (5) consecutive

calendar days with full pay, if these five days immediately follow the death of the person concerned. Additional bereavement days may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent.

c. For other relatives (defined as grandparents, uncles, aunts, first cousins, nieces, nephews, grand-children, sister-in-law, and brother-in-law), the teacher shall be allowed a maximum of three (3) consecutive calendar days with full pay, if these three days immediately follow the death of the person concerned. Additional bereavement days may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent.

2. Personal Leave - 4 Days:

- a. Teachers will be allowed a maximum of four (4) personal days per school year with full pay, provided approval has been granted in advance by the Principal concerned. Personal Days shall be taken in full day increments. Requests for personal days should be made at least five (5) school days prior to the specific date(s) being requested, unless an emergency arises that makes such notice impossible. Personal leave is non-cumulative except as specified in Section 3 below. Not more than one (1) Personal Day may be used after June 1 of each school year and no personal days may be taken for the purpose of extending a vacation period unless it is approved in advance by the Superintendent.
- 3. Accruable Personal Days: For each consecutive two (2) year period that no personal days are used by an employee, said employee shall be entitled to one (1) "permanent" personal day which will be accruable up to a total of seven (7) personal days.

ARTICLE IX EXTENDED LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. General

The Superintendent may grant extended leaves of absence for, but is not limited to, the purposes hereinafter stated. Requests for extended leaves of absences, except for maternity and military purposes, should be made to the Superintendent of Schools prior to April 1 for consideration. All requests will be made in writing and shall include, as a minimum, the purpose of the leave and the expected commencement and completion dates.

As a general rule, not more than two (2) teachers in the school system, nor more than one (1) teacher in the subject discipline or grade levels will be granted concurrent leaves of absence, excluding military leaves.

All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time his/her leave of absence commenced, including unused accumulated sick leave, seniority and tenure, shall be restored to him/her upon his/her return and he/she shall be assigned to the same position or if not in that position, a substantially equivalent position.

1. Por Participation in Professional Educational Organizations

The Superintendent may in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 71, Section 41A of the General Laws, upon written request, grant a leave of absence for not more than one (1) year to a teacher with professional teacher status for service to a professional educational organization of which said teacher is a member and has been elected to hold the office of president therein. Full or partial pay and continuation of benefits may be authorized for such leave of absence provided that said professional educational organization shall contract in writing to reimburse the Douglas School Committee for the total cost of all salary and benefits paid to said teacher during the leave of absence for said teacher to increase his/her teaching experience and/or value to the Douglas School System.

2. For Participation in Teacher Exchange Programs, Peace Corps or Similar Organizations

The Superintendent may, upon written request from a teacher, grant a leave of absence for not more than two (2) school years, without pay, for full-time participation in teacher exchange programs, the Peace Corps or similar organizations. Teachers without professional teacher status will not be considered for such leaves of absence. Upon return from such leave, the teacher will be placed on the salary schedule at the level he would have achieved had he not been absent.

3. For Military Service

The Superintendent shall grant military leave of absence, without pay, to any teacher entering the Armed Services of the United States to complete a service obligation. Upon return from such leave of absence, providing that the teacher has received an Honorable Discharge, he/she will be placed on the salary schedule at the level he/she would have achieved had he/she not been absent.

4. For Maternity

- A. A teacher who has been employed for not less than three consecutive months as a full time employee by the District shall, upon request be granted eight (8) continuous calendar weeks of leave in order to recover from childbirth. (Parental leave under other circumstances must be taken pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Policy described in paragraph 8 below). The following conditions shall apply to leave taken under this paragraph:
 - 1. Leave must be taken starting on the earlier of the date of the birth of the child, or the date the teacher ceases work prior to childbirth on the advice of her physician.
 - 2. A teacher taking leave under this provision will be paid only to the extent she would be paid if she were not on leave. For example, a teacher whose period of leave, as described in subparagraph 1, falls entirely during the summer break would be entitled to no additional pay for that

eight week period, and could not use the eight weeks at the start of the next school year. Similarly, a teacher who gives birth four weeks before the start of school would be entitled to just four weeks off with pay at the start of the school year

- her leave to a maximum of twelve continuous calendar weeks under the provisions of the District's Family and Medical Leave Policy, by following the procedures there under. Continuation leave will be unpaid unless the teacher has sufficient accrued sick days to cover the balance of the twelve week period. All leave taken under this provision will be counted as Family and Medical leave for the purposes of the twelve week maximum, except to the extent that it falls during summer break.
- 4. The paid portion of the eight week leave under this provision will not be subtracted from the teacher's accumulated sick days.
- 5. Employees employed on/or after September 1, 2007 will be permitted to use accumulated sick leave for maternity purposes to the extent of actual disability. The pay portion will be deducted from sick leave.
- B. An application for leave must be made at least two (2) weeks prior to her anticipated date of departure and must include a statement of her intention to return and the approximate date on which she expects to return. A teacher cannot request retroactive sick leave and maternity benefits after June 30th.
- C. A female teacher granted maternity leave of absence under this policy shall, upon returning to service after said leave, be restored to her previous, or similar, position with the same status, pay, length of service credit and seniority, as she had on the date of commencement of her leave of absence. If other employees of equal length of service and status, service the same or similar positions, have been terminated from service because of changes in the operation of the school system affecting employment of teachers of the same types during the period of such maternity leave, the teacher granted a maternity leave of absence shall not be entitled to be restored to her teaching position.
- D. Any maternity leave granted under this Section shall not affect the teacher's right to receive prorated sick leave, personal days, advancement, seniority, length of service credit, employee benefits, plans or programs, or other rights of her employment for which she was eligible on the date of commencement of maternity leave.
- E. A female teacher during maternity leave may, for the period covered by sick leave, at her own expense, maintain her status in the Hospitalization and Insurance Benefit Program, by making payments of the usual and customary

premiums, subject to the Family and Medical Leave Act and Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 32B.

5. For Family Care

The Superintendent may, upon written request from a teacher, grant a leave of absence without pay or increment for not more than one (1) year to allow a teacher to care for a member of his/her immediate family (defined as father, mother, brother, sister, son, daughter, husband, wife, or other relative residing in the same household as the teacher) requiring such care.

6. For Personal Health

The Superintendent may, upon written request from a teacher, grant a leave of absence without pay or increment not more than one (1) year for reasons of personal health. The Superintendent may require submission of appropriate medical evidence prior to consideration of request for such leave.

All insurance benefits may be kept in force during such leave of absence provided the teacher continues to pay his/her share of the cost of the insurance programs.

7. Sabbatical Leave

The Superintendent may, upon written request from the teacher prior to January 1, grant a sabbatical leave. Requests for such leave shall be evaluated and decided on a case by case basis. Prior to approval of a request for such leave, stipulations and conditions relative to the leave shall be mutually agreed upon by the teacher and the Superintendent, and reduced to writing in contract form.

8. Family and Medical Leave

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any teacher may exercise his or her rights to take Family and Medical Leave pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. In order to exercise those rights the teacher must apply for leave in accordance with the procedures set forth in the District's Family and Medical Leave Policy. In the event that a teacher qualifies for Family and Medical Leave, the District has the right to designate sick or other leave as Family or Medical leave in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Policy.

ARTICLE X PROFESSIONAL IMPROVEMENT

A. Courses

1. <u>Reimbursement:</u> Upon presentation of evidence of satisfactory completion, B or better, the School Committee will reimburse a teacher for courses, provided that such courses:

- a. Are in the teacher's major or teaching field, or are part of a graduate studies program leading to a higher degree which has been verified and approved by the Superintendent.
- b. Are taken at an accredited college, university or professional training school.
- c. Are approved in advance by the Superintendent.

Effective September 1, 2015, reimbursement for courses and fees shall not exceed the sum of \$850.00 (eight-hundred fifty dollars) per year for the term of the contract.

- 2. <u>Individual Courses</u>. A teacher not seeking reimbursement for an individual course does not need prior approval from the Superintendent to take such individual course.
- 3. Effective September 1, 2015, a member who is required to obtain a Sheltered Immersion Teacher Endorsement, will be granted three credits on the salary scale for an accredited college course or a one time payment of \$600 not on the base for a non college non accredited program.

B. Conferences, Workshops and Seminars

- 1. Requests: The Superintendent may grant a teacher, upon the recommendation of his/her Principal, a limited number of leave days with full pay to attend educational conferences, workshops, seminars or other professional improvement activities that would benefit both the teacher and the school.
- 2. <u>Reimbursement</u>: Upon presentation of expense vouchers, the School District will reimburse teachers for the total cost of the enrollment fees, meals, lodging and transportation at the IRS rate currently prevailing incurred by attendance at professional improvement activities approved in advance by the Superintendent.
- 3. Report: A brief written report of the conference or professional improvement activity shall be prepared and submitted to the Superintendent upon his/her request.

C. School Visitations

The Committee proposes the following: each teacher should spend an entire day visiting another school district or approved educational equivalent at least once every year, subject to the administration's approval. A written report of such visits must be turned in to the Superintendent with a copy to the building Principal, noting the experience learned as to result of the visit. This report must be turned in no later than five (5) days after the visitation.

ARTICLE XI TEACHER EVALUATION

A. Purpose

The most important element in a sound educational program is the excellence of its teaching staff. Evaluation of teachers shall be used to insure this excellence in the Douglas School System. Teacher evaluations will serve two basic purposes: (1) to raise the quality of instruction and educational service to the children of Douglas, and (2) to provide guidance to a teacher needing improvement.

B. Procedure

Teacher evaluation is a continuous process and is not confined or limited solely to periods of formal observation.

- 1. All formal monitoring or observation of the work performance of a teacher will be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the teacher. The use of eavesdropping, public address or audio system and similar surveillance devices shall be prohibited. A teacher shall be given, upon request, a copy of any evaluation report prepared by his/her superiors and shall have the right to discuss such report with his/her superiors.
- 2. Upon written request to the Administration, a teacher shall be permitted, by appointment, to inspect the contents of his/her personal folder, files, cards and records, and to make copies of such contents and records as concern his/her work and himself/herself.
- 3. No material derogatory to a teacher's conduct, service, character or personality shall be placed in his/her personnel file unless the teacher has had an opportunity to review the material. Any serious complaints regarding a teacher made to the Administration by anyone shall be promptly made known to the teacher.
- C. No teacher with professional teacher status shall be reprimanded, reduced in rank, or reduced in pay by any member of the Administration or School Committee without cause and in accordance with the provisions of the general laws.
- D. Any complaints regarding a teacher made to any member of the Administration and/or School Committee by any parents, students or person will be promptly called to the attention of the teacher and the complainant will be identified to the teacher. Complaints that are not deemed credible shall be treated as if they had not been made.

ARTICLE XII GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. Purpose

The purpose of the grievance procedure set forth below is to provide a systematic and timely process by which an aggrieved member of the Teachers Association may present a grievance concerning matters covered by this Agreement for a prompt resolution of the differences. Grievance proceedings will be kept as informal and confidential as may be appropriate for the level concerned and every effort will be made to dispose of at the lowest possible level. Nothing herein contained will be construed as limiting the right of any teacher having a grievance to discuss the matter informally with the appropriate member of the Administration at Level One and having the grievance disposed of at that Level without intervention of the Teachers Association, provided that the disposition is not inconsistent with the terms of the Agreement.

B. Definitions

- 1. <u>Grievance</u>: A "Grievance" is a complaint based upon an event or condition which affects the welfare and/or conditions of employment covered by this Agreement of a member or members of the Teachers Association.
- 2. Aggrieved: The term "aggrieved" is used to denote the person or persons filing the grievance.
- 3. Party In Interest: A "party in interest" includes the person or persons filing the grievance, all persons or groups of persons who might be required to take action, or against whom action may be taken, to resolve the grievance and the chairman of the Association's Professional Rights and Responsibilities Committee, or his/her designee when involved in a grievance proceeding.
- 4. School Day: A school day is a day on which school is in session.
- 5. <u>Time Limitations</u>: A grievance may be submitted no later than ten (10) calendar days from the date of the individual or association awareness.

C. <u>Grievance Procedure</u>

The number of days indicated at each level should be considered maximum, and every effort will be made to expedite the procedure whenever possible. Where necessary in the interest of fairness and completeness, time limits may be extended by mutual written agreement of parties concerned. Grievances submitted after June I will be processed as expeditiously as possible.

At all levels, the aggrieved person(s) shall have the right to meet with the Administration either privately or in company with a representative of the Association.

A grievance that effects, or may affect, a group or class of employees may be submitted by the Association directly to the Superintendent and the processing of such grievance shall be commenced at Level Two.

All documents, communications and records relating to the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the personal files of parties in interest. No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the School Committee or by any member of the Administration against any party in interest for reasons of participation in a grievance proceeding.

1. LEVEL ONE: MEETING WITH PRINCIPAL

The aggrieved shall discuss the grievance with his/her Principal.

a. If an immediate disposition of the grievance is not made at this meeting, the Principal shall have five (5) school days from the date of this meeting in which to advise the aggrieved of his/her decision. If, at the end of the five school days, the Principal has not advised the aggrieved of his/her decision, or, if the Principal's decision is not acceptable to the aggrieved, the aggrieved may, within the three (3) school days next following, request in writing a meeting with the Superintendent. This request must state the nature of the grievance, the Article or the provision of the Agreement allegedly violated, the remedy requested, and the signatures of the aggrieved person(s) and the Association representative. A copy of this request must be forwarded to the Principal. Pailure on the part of the aggrieved to comply with these requirements may result in termination of the grievance proceeding. The Superintendent shall, within five (5) school days from the day of the written request for a meeting, schedule said meeting.

2. LEVEL TWO: MEETING WITH SUPERINTENDENT

The aggrieved shall discuss the grievance with the Superintendent.

- a. If an immediate disposition of the grievance is not made at this meeting, the Superintendent shall have five (5) school days from the date of this meeting in which to advise the aggrieved of his/her decision. If, at the end of the five school days, the Superintendent has not advised the aggrieved of his/her decision, or, if the Superintendent's decision is not acceptable to the aggrieved, the aggrieved may, within the three (3) school days next following, request in writing a meeting with the School Committee. This request should be addressed to the Chairman of the School Committee, and must state the nature of the grievance the Article or the provision of the Agreement allegedly violated, the remedy requested, and the signature of the aggrieved person(s) and the Association representative.
- b. If the subject matter of the grievance involves any action of the Superintendent or the building principal(s) pursuant to M.G.L. Chapter 71, Sections 71, Sections 38, 40, 41, 42D, 43, 47A, and 59B, and if the grievance has not been disposed of to the satisfaction of the aggrieved party, the Association within ten (10) days after the Level 2 meeting will seek arbitration by giving notice of its intent to the Superintendent.

A copy of this request must be forwarded to the Superintendent. Failure on the part of the aggrieved to comply with these requirements may result in termination of the grievance proceeding. The School Committee shall, within ten (10) school days from the day of receipt of the written request for a meeting, schedule such meeting at a time mutually convenient for all parties concerned.

3. LEVEL THREE: MEETING WITH THE SCHOOL COMMITTEE

The aggrieved shall present the grievance to the School Committee only if related to non-personnel actions.

a. If an immediate disposition of the grievance is not made at this meeting, the Committee shall have ten (10) school days from the day of this meeting in which to advise the aggrieved of its decision. If, at the end of the ten school days, the Committee has not advised the aggrieved of its decision, or, if the Committee's decision is not acceptable to the aggrieved, the aggrieved may, within five (5) school days after a decision by the Committee, or within fifteen (15) school days after he/she has met with the Committee, whichever is sooner, make written request of the Teachers Association to submit his/her grievance to arbitration. If the Association determines that the grievance is meritorious and that it arises from the language of this Agreement or an alleged breach thereof, it may, by written notice to the Committee, submit the grievance to arbitration within fifteen (15) school days after receipt of the request by the aggrieved. Grievances that do not arise from the language in this Agreement, or an alleged breach thereof, will not be arbitrable.

(Explanatory Note: This portion of the Grievance Procedure requires the Association to notify the Committee of its intent to proceed to arbitration within twenty (20) school days of the date the Committee makes known to the aggrieved its Level Three Decision. These 20 days consist of the 5 days within which the aggrieved must request the Association to support his/her request for arbitration plus the 15 days within which the Association must then notify the Committee of its intent to proceed to arbitration. The Committee may not extend or otherwise modify the time limit within which an aggrieved is required to make written request of the Association to submit his/her grievance to arbitration.)

b. Within ten (10) school days after such notice of submission to arbitration, the Committee and the Association will agree upon a mutually acceptable arbitrator and will obtain a commitment from said arbitrator to serve. If the Parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator, or to obtain such a commitment within the specified period, the party seeking arbitration will initiate proceedings with the American Arbitration Association (AAA) by serving notice, in the form of a "Demand for Arbitration": on the other party, with a copy of said "Demand" forwarded to the AAA, One Center Plaza, 3rd Floor, Boston, MA 02108. (The AAA will supply "Demand" Forms, on request.) The parties will then be bound by the rules of the AAA in the selection of an arbitrator.

4. LEVEL FOUR: MEETING WITH ARBITRATOR

The aggrieved shall present his/her grievance to the arbitrator.

- a. The arbitrator so selected will hear the matter and will issue his/her decision not more than thirty (30) days from the date of the close of the hearings. The arbitrator's decision will be in writing and will set forth his findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions on the issues submitted.
- b. The power of the arbitrator in this instance stems from this Agreement, and his/her function is to interpret and apply this Agreement and to pass upon alleged violations thereof. He/she shall have no power to add to, subtract from, or modify any of the terms of this Agreement, nor shall he/she have any power or authority to make any decision that requires the commission of an act prohibited by law or that is volative of the terms of this Agreement.
- c. The decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the Committee and the Association and, subject to law, shall be final and binding upon the Association, the Committee, and the aggrieved, provided that the arbitrators in reaching his/her decision shall not have substituted his/her judgment for that of the Committee or the Association.
- d. The costs for the services of the arbitrator, including expenses, shall be divided equally between the Association and the Committee.
- D. <u>Exchange of Information</u>. Facts, opinions, proposals and counterproposals will be freely exchanged during and between meetings of the Association and the Committee.
- E. Special Circumstances. Whenever the positions of High School Principal and Superintendent are held by one and the same person, grievances concerning high school matters may be submitted initially at Level Two.

ARTICLE XIII PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION

(Informational Preface:) A teacher who sustains personal injury arising out of and in the course of his/her employment shall be provided with medical coverage plus weekly salary compensation in accordance with the limits established and regulated by the Massachusetts Workers' Compensation Law.

- A. Whenever a teacher is absent from school as a result of a personal injury arising out of and in the course of his/her employment, which injury qualifies said teacher for benefits under the Workers' Compensation Law, the School District shall pay said teacher a salary make-up, in accordance with the following provisions:
 - 1. The salary make-up paid by the School District will be an amount which, when added to the amount of weekly benefit received by the teacher as Workers'. Compensation, shall equal the teacher's normal net salary (defined as gross salary minus State and Federal tax deductions.)

- 2. The length of time for which the School District will pay salary make-up will be limited to the period for which workers' compensation benefits are paid, and will not exceed, in any case, a period of three (3) months from the date of the <u>original</u> injury.
- B. No part of absence taken during the period for which workers' compensation benefits are paid will be charged to sick leave.

C. Reimbursement for Damage to Teachers' Personal Property

The School District will reimburse a teacher for clothing and personal property damaged or destroyed in the course of employment (excluding items such as radios, televisions and tape recorders brought to school mainly for personal benefit and excluding automobiles). In no event shall such reimbursement be in an amount in excess of two hundred dollars (\$200.00). No reimbursement will be made where such damage or destruction has been caused by negligence on the part of the teacher.

The decision as to whether or not such damage occurred in the course of the teacher's employment shall not be a grievable matter within Article X-B(1) above.

ARTICLE XIV MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. Committee-Association Meetings on Non-Contractual Matters

Whenever a member or members of the Association desire to meet with the Committee to discuss matters not covered by this Agreement (i.e. non-grievance matters), a request will be made in writing to the Chairman of the School Committee, with a copy to the Superintendent. The request must explain the nature of the matter(s) to be discussed. Upon receipt of such request, the Chairman will direct the Superintendent to place the matter on the agenda for the next regular meeting, or, if in the Chairman's opinion the matter so warrants, schedule a special meeting of the Committee.

B. Association Rights to Use of School Facilities

- 1. The Association may use school buildings, without cost, at reasonable times for meetings. Requests for use of buildings will be made to the Principal of the building in advance and approval shall be subject to previous commitments for use of the building and its facilities.
- 2. Requests for use of the gymnasium and/or other athletic facilities will be made and processed through normal channels.
- 3. The Association may place notices on faculty bulletin boards and in teacher's mail boxes.

C. <u>Extra-Curricular Activities</u>

Teachers are free to reject extra-curricular activities.

D. Agenda and Minutes

A copy of the agenda and minutes of the School Committee meetings other than executive sessions shall be sent to building representatives of the Association three days prior to meetings. Approved minutes of meetings shall be sent to building representatives of the Association within one week after said approval.

ARTICLE XV SALARIES AND OTHER COMPENSATION

A. Salaries

- 1. <u>Salary Schedules</u>: The salaries of all persons covered by this Agreement are set forth in Appendix A Teacher Salary Schedules.
- 2. Teacher Salaries: Teachers' salaries will be paid in accordance with the appropriate schedule as set forth in Appendix A. Compensation shall be deemed to be fully earned at the end of the school year, and proportionately earned during the school year. All personnel on the teachers' salary schedule shall generally be paid in twenty-six (26) bi-weekly installments from September on one calendar year to August 31 of the next calendar year. However, if, on or before August 15, a teacher may request a change from lump sum to bi-weekly or vice-versa for salary payment for the period June 30 through August 31 of the following year.
 - a. Credit on Salary for Increase in Educational Qualifications.

Increment credit in compliance with the educational qualification levels (B+15, M+15, etc.) established on the salary schedule shall be established at the beginning of each school year. Credits earned during a school year shall be considered for increment adjustment at the beginning of the next school year. This subparagraph shall not be construed as barring the Superintendent from adjusting an employee's salary during the school year in the event of misplacement on the salary schedule.

In order to qualify for increment credits and be eligible for a lane adjustment, the credits and/or degree must be obtained from an accredited school in the teacher's area of certification or, in the Superintendent's educational judgment, in an area that furthers the professional development of the teacher's certification; provided, however, if the Superintendent denies a lane adjustment because of the courses taken by a teacher, such teacher may grieve the denial in accordance with the grievance and arbitration provision of the Agreement.

- 3. New Teachers: Upon initial appointment in the Douglas School System, a teacher may be granted, subject to the recommendation of the Superintendent and the approval of the School Committee:
 - a. Full increment credit for previous teaching experiences elsewhere; and/or

- b. Increment credit not to exceed two years for military, business, Peace Corps (or similar organization) experience likely to significantly increase his/her value to the Douglas School System.
- 4. Salary Review Prior to Retirement: Any teacher 55 years of age or older who has completed twenty (20) years of service in the Douglas Public Schools and with professional teacher status in the Douglas School System and who has not reached maximum salary, shall be considered for additional salary one year before retirement if she or he has submitted to the Superintendent a written notice of intent to retire one year before said retirement.
- 5. Any teacher retiring between the 2015-2016 school year through the 2019-2020 school year and who has not been advanced under section 4 because he/she is already at M60/ Step 11 will receive a \$1,000.00 stipend when he or she files their retirement paperwork. This item will sunset at the end of the 2019-2020 school year.

B. Benefits

See Appendix B.

- C. <u>Payroll Deduction Plan</u>: Payroll deductions are authorized for the following items:
 - 1. Professional Dues
 - 2. Tax-sheltered annuities
 - 3. Disability with the Town's disability insurance company
 - 4. Town employee's health and life insurance plans
 - 5. Massachusetts Teachers Association Credit Union

D. Other Compensation

- 1. Co-Curricular Compensation: Co-curricular responsibilities shall be compensated for in accordance with Appendix C Co-Curricular Salary Schedule.
- 2. <u>Payments</u>: Payment of co-curricular salaries shall be in accordance with the following schedule:
 - a. <u>Athletic Director</u> Lump sum separate paycheck at completion of school year.
 - b. <u>Coaches</u> Lump sum separate payment at completion of appropriate athletic season.
 - c. Advisors/Directors Lump sum separate payment at completion of a particular event (e.g. school play) or completion of school years as appropriate.
- 3. The parties agree to establish a joint study committee to study the structure and compensation rates for all stipends in Appendix C. The joint committee shall be

comprised of three (3) representatives of the Association and three (3) representatives of the School Committee to ensure that all current stipendiary positions are included in Appendix C; to consider realignment of stipendiary payments; to discuss a protocol for adding new stipendiary positions to Appendix C; and to review the responsibilities of the stipendiary positions. The joint study committee will begin its work on or before January 30, 2018 and complete its work on or before June 1, 2018. The joint study committee will submit its joint recommendation to the parties for negotiation and ratification by June 30, 2018 so that any changes will become effective no later than the 2019-2020 school year.

E. The parties agree to establish a joint study committee to study the structure of the salary grid in Appendix A. The joint committee shall be comprised of three (3) representatives of the Association, appointed by the President(s), and three (3) representatives of the School Committee, appointed by the Chair, to consider modification of the step structure, number of steps and the number of columns in the grid. The joint study committee will begin its work on or before September 30, 2018 and complete its work on or before June 1, 2019. The joint study committee will submit its joint recommendation to the parties for negotiations of the successor agreement.

ARTICLE XVI SCHOOL NURSE

- A. <u>School Registered Nurse</u>. The School Registered Nurse, as an authorized member of the Douglas Teachers collective bargaining unit, shall be fully eligible for all benefits and/or privileges that are accorded to teachers by this Agreement.
- B. The Registered Nurse shall be paid in accordance with the Teachers' Salary Schedule.
- C. The Nurse Leader. The nurse leader engages in instructional activities and participates in parent/teacher activities on a regular basis. The nurse leader shall be recognized as a co-curricular position with a salary equivalent to a grade-level coordinator.

The Superintendent may, from time to time, require that the School Nurse, in addition to his/her regular duties, formally prepare and present to students and/or faculty, lectures on personal hygiene and other matters which the Superintendent may designate.

ARTICLE XVII SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any provision of this Agreement, or any application thereof, shall be found contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications will continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE XVIII IMPLEMENTATION OF CONTRACT

Committee policy and administrative regulations inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement are deemed to be amended so as to be consistent herewith.

ARTICLE XIX HONORARIA

A. Completion of 15 Years

Teachers are eligible to receive honoraria upon the completion of fifteen (15) continuous years of teaching in the Douglas School System payable upon the completion of the following school year. Beginning in the 16th year until the completion of the 19th year, teachers will be awarded an honorarium of \$1,000 (One Thousand Dollars) per year, in addition to any and all other compensation.

B. Completion of 19 Years

Teachers are eligible to receive honoraria upon the completion of nineteen (19) continuous years of teaching in the Douglas School System, payable upon the completion of the following school year. Beginning in the 20th year until the completion of the 25th year, teachers will be awarded an honorarium of \$2,000 (Two Thousand Dollars) in addition to any and all other compensation.

C. Completion of 25 Years

Teachers are eligible to receive honoraria upon the completion of twenty-five (25) years of teaching in the Douglas School System, payable upon the completion of the following school year. Beginning in the 26th year, teachers will be awarded an honorarium of \$2,500 (Twenty-Five Hundred Dollars) in addition to any and all other compensation.

D. Completion of 30 Years

Teachers are eligible to receive honoraria upon the completion of thirty (30) years of teaching in the Douglas School System, payable upon the completion of the following school year. Beginning in the 31st year, teachers will be awarded an honorarium of \$3,000 (Three Thousand Dollars) in addition to any and all other compensation.

E. Schedule of Honoraria Payments

All honoraria, as described above, shall be distributed to eligible staff members in two equal payments, the first payment shall be in that normal pay schedule falling closest but no later than December 15 and the second pay falling closest but not later than April 15.

ARTICLE XX MANDATORY SCHOLARSHIP FUND CONTRIBUTION

- A. The Douglas Teachers Association and the Douglas School Committee agree that members of the teachers' bargaining unit, who are not members of the Association but who receive the benefits of representation, shall donate on a mandatory basis an amount equivalent to the cost of contract negotiations and administration, and grievance administration to the D.T.A. Scholarship Fund.
- B. This amount will be either paid directly in total by November 1 of each school year or will be paid directly on a biweekly basis or deducted biweekly by the School District from the salary of any such employee who signs an authorization form permitting such deductions. The School District will transmit to the Association the amount deducted for the D.T.A. Scholarship Fund Account.
- C. The School Committee shall not be responsible for the implementation, collection, or enforcement of this Mandatory Scholarship Fund Contribution except that it will supply any required documentation to establish that a person is a member of the bargaining unit subject to the contribution.
- D. The Association agrees that it will indemnify and hold the School Committee harmless for any action taken against any employee as a result of this Article including but not limited to any legal expenses incurred.
- E. After a demand for payment of this Mandatory Scholarship Fund Contribution is made and no payment is received, the Association shall notify the employee that legal proceedings to enforce the payment will commence by the Association.

ARTICLE XXI DISTRIBUTION OF AGREEMENT

The School Committee will supply the Douglas Teachers Association with eighty (80) copies of the Agreement.

ARTICLE XXII WAIVER

The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which preceded this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the School Committee and the Association, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waive the right and each agree that the other will not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter covered in this Agreement.

ARTICLE XXIII STABILITY OF AGREEMENT

The failure of the School Committee or the Association to insist on any one or more incidents, or upon performance of any of the terms or conditions of the Agreement, will not be considered as a waiver or relinquishment of the right of the School Committee or the Association to future performance of any such terms or conditions, and the obligations of the School Committee or the Association to such future performance will continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE XXIV DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement will become effective as of September 1, 2017, and shall expire on August 31, 2020.

| Allion Carrel | Danielle Hippert |
|---------------|--|
| Sherre 2010 | Many Dupre |
| Julie Marla | Julie Bertone. |
| Bus Hacel | L Grane Disser Woupil |
| | Julissa Molvai |
| | from the same of t |
| | A lift |
| Committee | Union |
| Date: 3 39 18 | Date: 3.21.18 |
| - p- , | Kathlew Hays |
| | Mr. Mill |

Appendix A

| | FY | 2018 | | |
|------------|--------|------|--------|------|
| Effective: | 2017 - | 2018 | School | Year |

| Eliabilide: 5011 - 5010 deliabilitem | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|--------|------------------|-----------------------|--------|---------|--------|--------|
| 1.00% Step | В | B+15 | B+36/M | M+15 | M+30 | M+45 | M+60 |
| 1 | 45,400 | 46,540 | 47,667 | 48,805 | 49,939 | 51,077 | |
| 2 | 46,534 | 47,667 | 48,805 | 49,518 | 61,077 | 52,209 | |
| 3 | 47,930 | 49,098 | 50,269 | 51,436 | 52,607 | 53,775 | |
| 4 | 49,368 | 50,573 | 61,778 | 52,981 | 54,185 | 55,386 | |
| 5 | 50,849 | 52,089 | 53,331 | 54,570 | 55,813 | 57,049 | |
| 6 | 52,374 | 53,651 | 54,929 | 58,207 | 57,488 | 58,761 | 59,888 |
| 7 | 64,700 | 65,984 | 57,272 | 58,552 | 59,832 | 61,111 | 62,242 |
| В | 57,031 | 58,320 | 69,806 | 60,895 | 62,183 | 63,456 | 64,588 |
| 9 | 60,524 | 62,401 | 64,280 | 66,159 | 68,046 | 69,925 | 71,050 |
| 10 | 64,012 | 65,896 | 67,790 | 69,673 | 71,571 | 73,447 | 74,352 |
| 11 | 71,954 | 73,856 | 76,763 | 77,658 | 79,574 | 81,470 | 82,601 |
| | | Effort | FY 2 ive: 2018 - : | | ni Venr | | |
| 1.75% | В | B+15 | B+36/M | M+15 | M+30 | M+45 | M+60 |
| Step | | 47,354 | 48,501 | 49,659 | 50,813 | 51,971 | |
| 1 | 46,194 | • | 49,659 | 50,385 | 51,971 | 53,123 | |
| 2 | 47,348 | 48,501 | 51,148 | 52,336 | 53,527 | 54,717 | |
| 3 | 48,768 | 49,957 | • | 53,906 | 55,134 | 56,356 | |
| 4 | 50,232 | 61,458 50,000 | 52,684 | 55,525 | 56,789 | 58,047 | |
| 5 | 51,739 | 53,000 | 54,264 es 000 | 57,190 | 58,494 | 59,789 | 60,936 |
| 6 | 53,290 | 54,590 | 55,890 | • | 60,879 | 62,181 | 63,331 |
| 7 | 55,657 | 58,984 | 58,274 | 59,576 | • | 64,567 | 65,719 |
| 8 | 58,029 | 59,341 | 60,648 | 61,961 | 63,271 | 71,149 | 72,294 |
| 9 | 61,583 | 63,493 | 65,405 | 67,317 | 69,237 | | |
| 10 | 65,132 | 67,050 | 68,977 | 70,892 | 72,823 | 74,733 | 75,653 |
| 11 | 73,214 | 75,149 | 77,089 | 79,017 | 90,966 | 82,895 | 84,046 |

FY 2020 Effective: 2019 - 2020 School Year

| 1.75% | | | | | | | |
|-------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|
| Stap | B | B+15 | B+36/M | M+15 | M+30 | M+45 | M+60 |
| 1 | 47,002 | 48,183 | 49,350 | 50,528 | 61,703 | 52,880 | |
| 2 | 48,177 | 49,350 | 50,528 | 51,267 | 62,660 | 54,052 | |
| 3 | 49,622 | 50,832 | 52,044 | 63,252 | 54,464 | 55,674 | |
| 4 | 51,111 | 52,358 | 53,606 | 54,851 | 56,099 | 67,342 | |
| Б | 52,645 | 53,928 | 55,214 | 56,497 | 67,783 | 59,063 | |
| 6 | 54,223 | 55,545 | 56,868 | 58,191 | 59,518 | 60,835 | 62,002 |
| 7 | 56,831 | 57,961 | 59,294 | 60,619 | 61,945 | 63,269 | 64,440 |
| 8 | 59,044 | 60,380 | 61,711 | 63,045 | 84,378 | 65,697 | 66,869 |
| 9 | 62,661 | 64,604 | 66,550 | 68,495 | 70,448 | 72,394 | 73,559 |
| 10 | 66,272 | 68,223 | 70,184 | 72,133 | 74,098 | 76,040 | 76,977 |
| 11 | 74,485 | 76,464 | 78,438 | 80,400 | 82,383 | 84,346 | 85,517 |

APPENDIX B

Health Insurance benefits and options pursuant to this agreement are provided by the Town of Douglas.

APPENDIX C

|] | Douglas High School | | | | |
|----|--|----------------|------------------|------------------|----------|
| | Athletics: | FY18 | | FY19 | FY20 |
| į | | FY17-0% | UPDATED | 1.75% | 1.75% |
| | Athletic Director | \$13,500 | \$13,500 | \$13,736 | \$13,976 |
| | Boys Varsity Basketball | \$5,081 | \$5,081 | \$5,170 | \$5,260 |
| | Girls Varsity Basketball | \$5,081 | \$5,081 | \$5,170 | \$5,260 |
| | Boys Varsity Soccer | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Girls Varsity Soccer | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Girls Varsity Volleyball | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Boys Varsity Volleyball | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Boys & Girls Cross Country | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Varsity Field Hockey | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Varsity Golf | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Varsity Baseball | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Varsity Softball | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Varsity Track & Field | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Boys Varsity Track & Field | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Girls Varsity Track & Field | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Varsity Cheerleading | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Boys & Girls Indoor Track | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| | Boys JV Basketball | \$3,387 | \$3,387 | \$3,446 | \$3,506 |
| | Girls JV Basketball | \$3,387 | \$3,387 | \$3,446 | \$3,506 |
| | Boys JV Soccer | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| ٠. | Girls JV Soccer | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| ď | Assistant Cross-Country | N/A | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | (only if total participation numbers exceed 16 student-athletes) | | | , | |
| | JV Field Hockey | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | Girls JV Volleyball | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | Boys JV Baseball | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | Assistant Indoor Track | N/A | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | Girls JV Softball | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | JV Cheerleading | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | Assistant Track & Field | N/A | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | Assistant Golf | \$1,694 | \$1,694 | \$1,724 | \$1,754 |
| | Douglas High School | | | | |
| | Extra-Curricular Positions: | # # 001 | መሮ ሰብ ነ | øc 170 | \$5,260 |
| | Band Director | \$5,081 | \$5,081 | \$5,170 | \$2,338 |
| | Assistant Band Director | \$2,258 | \$2,258 | \$2,298 | \$4,675 |
| | Chorus Director | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$2,338 |
| | Assistant Chorus Director | \$2,258 | \$2,258 | \$2,298 \$689 | \$701 |
| | Color Guard Director | \$677 \$340 | \$677 \$340 | \$346 | \$352 |
| | Flag Advisor | \$340 \$340 | \$340 \$340 | \$346 | \$352 |
| | Drill Advisor | \$340 \$340 | \$340 \$340 | \$346 | \$352 |
| • | National Line Color Guard | \$340 \$340 | \$340 | \$346 \$346 | \$352 |
| | Majorette Advisor | φ 34 0 | υ τ υ | Ψυπο | پدروپ |

APPENDIX C

| FY18 | UPDATED | FY19 | FY20 |
|---------|---|--|--|
| \$340 | \$340 | \$346 | \$352 |
| \$340 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| \$2,484 | \$2,484 | \$2,527 | \$2,571 |
| \$1,806 | \$1,806 | \$1,838 | \$1,870 |
| \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| \$1.694 | \$1.694 | \$1.724 | \$1,754 |
| - | | · · | \$1,988 |
| - | • | = | \$1,754 |
| | · | • | \$1,519 |
| • | • | • | \$1,286 |
| • | · - · | · · | - |
| • | - | - | \$1,170 |
| \$847 | \$847 | | \$877 |
| \$1,130 | \$1,130 | | \$1,170 |
| \$677 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| \$677 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| \$677 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| \$2,484 | \$2,484 | \$2,527 | \$2,571 |
| \$1,694 | \$1,694 | \$1,724 | \$1,754 |
| \$1,694 | \$1,694 | \$1,724 | \$1,754 |
| \$1,130 | \$1,130 | \$1,150 | \$1,170 |
| \$677 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| | \$340 \$340 \$2,484 \$1,806 \$2,823 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,467 \$1,242 \$1,130 \$847 \$1,130 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$2,484 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,130 | \$340 \$340 \$340 \$677 \$2,484 \$2,484 \$1,806 \$1,806 \$2,823 \$2,823 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,920 \$1,920 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,467 \$1,467 \$1,242 \$1,242 \$1,130 \$1,130 \$847 \$847 \$1,130 \$1,130 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$677 \$2,484 \$2,484 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,130 \$1,130 | \$340 \$340 \$346 \$340 \$677 \$689 \$2,484 \$2,484 \$2,527 \$1,806 \$1,806 \$1,838 \$2,823 \$2,823 \$2,872 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,724 \$1,920 \$1,920 \$1,954 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,724 \$1,467 \$1,467 \$1,493 \$1,242 \$1,242 \$1,264 \$1,130 \$1,130 \$1,150 \$847 \$847 \$862 \$1,130 \$1,130 \$1,150 \$677 \$677 \$689 \$677 \$677 \$689 \$677 \$677 \$689 \$677 \$677 \$689 \$2,484 \$2,484 \$2,527 \$1,694 \$1,694 \$1,724 \$1,130 \$1,130 \$1,150 |

APPENDIX C

| Douglas Middle School | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|--------------|------------|--------------------------|---------------|
| Athletic Positions: | FY18 | UPDATED | FY19 | FY20 |
| Athletic Director | \$4,516 | \$4,516 | \$4,595 | \$4,675 |
| Cross Country | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Assistant Cross-Country | N/A | \$1,764 | \$1,795 | \$1,826 |
| (only if total participation numbers | | | | |
| exceed 16 student-athletes) | | | | #2 020 |
| Girls Basketball | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Boys Basketball | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Track & Field | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Assistant Track & Field | \$1,764 | \$1,764 | \$1,795 | \$1,826 |
| Cheerleading | \$1,694 | \$1,694 | \$1,724 | \$1,754 |
| Douglas Middle School | | | | |
| Extra-Curricular Positions: | | | | |
| Advisor – Grade 8 | \$1,130 | \$1,130 | \$1,150 | \$1,170 |
| Student Council | \$677 | \$1,806 | \$1,838 | \$1,870 |
| Yearbook | \$677 | \$1,130 | \$1,150 | \$1,170 |
| Lego Robotics (1-10 ratio) | \$677 | \$800 | \$814 | \$828 |
| Drama Club Advisor | N/A | \$1,130 | \$1,150 | \$1,170 |
| Show Choir | \$2,258 | \$2,258 | \$2,298 | \$2,338 |
| Grade Level Coordinators | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Advisor – Grade 7 | \$677 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| Advisor – Grade 6 | \$677 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| Peer Leadership | \$1,130 | \$1,130 | \$1,150 | \$1,170 |
| After-School Instrumental | \$2,258 | \$2,258 | \$2,298 | \$2,338 |
| National Honor Society | \$677 | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| After-School Chorus | \$2,258 | \$2,258 | \$2,298 | \$2,338 |
| Altor-School Chorus | 42,20 | 4-) | , , | - |
| | | | | |
| Douglas Elementary School | | | | |
| Extra-Curricular Positions: | NY/A | \$677 | \$689 | \$701 |
| Chorus Director | N/A | | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Grade Level Coordinators | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | φ <i>L</i> ,0 / <i>L</i> | Who I had |
| (2, 3, 4, + 5 @ \$2,823 each) | | | | |
| Douglas Elementary School | | | | |
| Self-Funded | | | | |
| Extra-Curricular Positions: | | | | DA 000 |
| Enrichment Coordinator | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Enrichment Instructors | \$350 | \$350 | \$356 | \$362 |
| per course, per session | | | | |
| | | | | |

APPENDIX C

| Douglas Primary School | | | | |
|--------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Extra-Curricular Positions: | FY18 | UPDATED | FY19 | FY20 |
| Grade Level Coordinators | \$2,823 | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| (K + 1 at \$2.823 each) | | | | |
| | | | | |
| DISTRICT-WIDE | | <u></u> | | |
| Co-Curricular Positions: | | | | |
| Teacher Lead Mentor | N/A | \$700 | 712 | \$724 |
| Teacher Lead Mentor | N/A | \$700 | 712 | \$724 |
| Teacher Mentor Level 1 | N/A | \$550 | 560 | \$570 |
| Teacher Mentor Level 2 | N/A | \$400 | 407 | \$414 |
| Teacher Mentor Level 3 | N/A | \$300 | 305 | \$310 |
| Vertical Team Chair | N/A | \$600 | 611 | \$622 |
| (Math, ELA, Science, History) | | | | |
| High School After School MCAS: | | | | |
| Math | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| ELA | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| Science | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| Middle School MCAS Program: | | | | |
| Math | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| ELA | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| Science | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| Elementary School MCAS Program | : | | | |
| Math | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| ELA | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| Science | N/A | \$750 | 763 | \$776 |
| Nurse Leader | N/A | \$2,823 | \$2,872 | \$2,922 |
| Linibo monnor | 11117 | ψω,σωσ | φ, σ. 1 | *-> |

APPENDIX C

Pursuant to Article XV, Section D (Other Compensation) ,#3 of the Douglas Teachers Association Contract: The Douglas Teachers Association and School Committee agree to the following COLA percentages that will be applied to all stipend positions contained in the amended Appendix C.

2017 - 2018 - 0%

2018 - 2019 - 1.75%

2019 - 2020 - 1.75%

- *Percentages were approved by the School Committee in Executive Session on June 20, 2018.
- * Appendix C was renegotiated by a representative committee of DTA members and members of the Administrative team and completed in June 2018.

| Signatures of DTA Officials: | 1 |
|------------------------------|---|
| Wantell Stolls | 1 |
| an lie Bartone | |
| | |
| | |

Signatures of School Committee:

Date: 71,8/18

Kevin Maines, Superintendent 7/18/18



21 Davis Street, Douglas, MA 01516 (508) 476-7901 FAX (508) 476-3719 www.douglasps.net

Kevin G. Maines, Superintendent

Donna Sousa, Director of Technology Cindy Socha, Curriculum Director Cortney Keegan, Business & Operations Manager Nealy Urquhart, Assistant Superintendent of Student Support Services

February 6, 2019

Douglas Teachers Association PO Box 376 Douglas, MA 01516

To Mrs. Danielle Hippert & Mrs. Julie Bertone,

As per our conversation regarding the Middle School STEM Club Advisor position, the stipend will be set at \$862 and added to the Appendix C.

DTA Co-President

DTA Cø-President

Superintendent

Date

2-5-19

Date

The Douglas Teachers" Association is in agreement with the proposed stipend of \$2,298 for the new music instructor's position of Before/After School Instrumental Lessons offered at Douglas Elementary School effective in the 2018—2019 school year. This position will be added to the present Appendix C and will be entitled to the same benefits Implicit with Appendix C relative to the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

| Douglas Teachers Association: | |
|-------------------------------|---------|
| Julie Bertoni | 91818 |
| Deanelle Heppert | 9-18-18 |
| • | |
| | |
| Douglas School Committee: | |
| Lelin (veg | 10/3/18 |
| July Mala | 19/3/18 |
| Par April | 10/3/18 |
| Allon Carrel | 10/3/18 |
| Mas Gara | 10/3/18 |
| ¥ / * " | |

Douglas Mentoring Fee Structure Established 2018-2019 School Year

*Implementing of these positions will be dependent upon adequate funding

| DISTRICT-WIDE | FY 2019 UPDATED | FY 2020 UPDATED | NOTES |
|--|--------------------|--------------------|--|
| | 19_41_000 | | Rate |
| Teacher Lead Mentor | \$1,018 | \$1,036 | Increase |
| Teacher Mentor Level 1 | \$560 | \$570 | |
| Teacher Mentor Level 2 | \$407 | \$414 | , to a second se |
| Teacher Mentor Level 2 - 2 mentees | \$611 | \$622 | New Category |
| Teacher Mentor Level 3 - 1 mentee | \$305 | \$310 | |
| Teacher Mentor Level 3 - 2 mentees | \$458 | \$466 | New Category |
| Teacher Mentor Level 3 - 3 mentees | \$611 | \$622 | New Category |
| Teacher Mentor Level 4 - up to 2 mentees | \$305 | \$310 | New Category |

| DIA: | |
|---------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Quelie Bontone | 10.3.18 |
| Danielle Hopert | 10-3-18 |
| # # | |
| Douglas School Committee: | |
| Bon Hall | 10/3/18 |
| Gelley Carreer | 10/3/18 |
| Maa Gere | 10/3/12 |
| Juli Moulein | 10/3/18 |
| Lake Corp | ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ |
| ${\mathfrak f}$ | |

DOUGLAS TEACHERS ASSOCIATION FY 2018 - FY 2020 CONTRACT REVISED TEACHER MENTOR STIPENDS (FY2019 - FY2020) SCHOOL COMMITTEE MEETING: OCTOBER 3, 2018

| DISTRICT-WIDE | FY 2019 UPDATED | FY 2020 UPDATED | NOTES |
|--|-----------------|-----------------|---------------------|
| Teacher Lead Mentor | \$1,018 | \$1,036 | Rate Increase |
| Teacher Mentor Level 1 | \$560 | \$570 | |
| Teacher Mentor Level 2 | \$407 | \$414 | |
| Teacher Mentor Level 2 - 2 mentees | \$611 | \$622 | New Category |
| Teacher Mentor Level 3 - 1 mentee | \$305 | \$310 | |
| Teacher Mentor Level 3 - 2 mentees | \$458 | \$466 | New Category |
| Teacher Mentor Level 3 - 3 mentees | \$611 | \$622 | New Category |
| Teacher Mentor Level 4 - up to 2 mentees | \$305 | \$310 | New Category |



21 Davis Street, Douglas, MA 01516 (508) 476-7901 FAX (508) 476-3719 www.douglasps.net

Kevin G. Maines, Superintendent

Donna Sousa, Director of Technology Cindy Socha, Curriculum Director Cortney Keegan, Business & Operations Manager Nealy Urquhart, Assistant Superintendent of Student Support Services

February 14, 2020

Douglas Teachers Association PO Box 376 Douglas, MA 01516

To: Kevin Riordan and Jonathan Waggenhiem,

As per our conversation regarding the High School DECA Adivsor stipend position, our agreement is that the stipend will be set at \$1,170 and upon completion of present contract negotiations; it will be permanently added to the Appendix C of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

| K-Rund | 2/14/20 |
|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| DTA President | Date |
| DEA Vice President | 3/14/26 Date |
| Leven Maines | $\frac{2/23/2020}{\text{Date}}$ |
| Superintendent | Date / |
| Douglas High School Principal | 2-14-2028 Date |
| SCHOOL COMMITTEE | 2-24-2020 DATE |
| Duly Mondo | 2-24-2020 2-24-2020 |
| SCHOOL COMMITTEE | DATE |
| Ribella Clic | 2-24-20 DATE |
| SCHOOL COMMITTEE | DATE |
| Leli Consy | 2 - 24 - 2020 |

Excellence in Education



21 Davis Street, Douglas, MA 01516 (508) 476-7901 FAX (508) 476-3719 www.douglasps.net

Kevin G. Maines, Superintendent

Donna Sousa, Director of Technology Cindy Socha, Curriculum Director Cortney Keegan, Business & Operations Manager Nealy Urquhart, Assistant Superintendent of Student Support Services

School Committee Agenda Item Summary

Date:

February 24, 2020

Prepared By:

Joshua Romano, DHS Principal

Reviewed By:

Kevin Maines, Superintendent of Schools

Subject:

Establishing a DHS Student Activity Fund Account - DECA Club

Background

DHS students have petitioned to start a DECA Club at Douglas High School and Mr. Hillman has agreed to be their advisor for the 2019-2020 school year. DECA (Distributive Education Clubs of America, Inc.) is an extra-curricular activity conducted at many area schools that focuses on competition in aspects of the business world. The organization's mission statement is DECA prepares emerging leaders and entrepreneurs in marketing, finance, hospitality and management in high schools and colleges around the globe.

Discussion/Analysis

If approved, the club would be recognized as a subsidiary account in the DHS Student Activities Account.

The club activities include competitive events between multiple schools and other leadership trainings and conferences.

Financial Impact

A stipend for the advisor in the amount of \$1,170 has been negotiated as part of the Appendix C of the DTA Contract for FY 2020. The stipend will be prorated for FY 2020. The FY 2020 stipend will be paid from the high school general fund budget for which a transfer will be done at a future school committee meeting. Yearly expenditures for this club for competitions and conferences will be \$5,000 - \$6,000 to be paid by fundraising. If fundraising is not expected to be adequate to pay for activities, it may be necessary to charge a fee for participating students which will be pre-approved by the school committee.

Recommendation

If the School Committee is in agreement, the following motion is recommended for approval:

MOVE to approve the establishment of a new DHS student activity fund account entitled DECA Club for the purpose of preparing leaders for the business world and participating in competitions and attending conferences. Further, move to approve a stipend amount of \$1,170 for FY 2020 and add the DECA Club stipend to Appendix C. The FY 2020 Stipend will be prorated.

Attachments

Form SAA #6 – Request for Recognition of a Student Organization

Excellence in Education

STUDENT ACTIVITY ACCOUNT
SAA-#6 Request For Recognition Of A Student Organization

| SCHOOL: Doyles High School DATE OF REQUEST: 2-24-2020 |
|--|
| The undersigned hereby request the recognition of the following student organizations, including approval to maintain monies in a student activity account. |
| Suggested Name of Organization: |
| Reasons for Forming This Organization: Business Club to prepare students |
| for courses in marketry, Finance, entrepoeauship, and hespitaly. Augments the Bossiers Pathwy |
| Criteria for Membership in Organization: Completion or encollection |
| a business class at DHS or previous Echool |
| Grade Span: 9-12 |
| How will Adult Supervision be Achieved?: DECA Advisor is prest at all functions and responsible for dib/chiphr activities |
| If approved, we understand that the organization will be held accountable for complying with all regulations/guidelines/procedures for fundraising, procurement of goods and services under the Uniform Procurement Act (as required), and the handling of monies. |
| Student Signature Teacher/Advisor Signature Principal Signature |
| Student (Print Name) Student (Print Name) Student (Print Name) |
| * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * |
| Completed by Superintendent's Office |
| The above organization is approved as a recognized student organization. |
| Superintendent Date |
| Date approved by School Committee (if approved): |



21 Davis Street, Douglas, MA 01516 (508) 476-7901 FAX (508) 476-3719 www.douglasps.net

Kevin G. Maines, Superintendent .

Donna Sousa, Director of Technology Cindy Socha, Curriculum Director Cortney Keegan, Business & Operations Manager Nealy Urquhart, Assistant Superintendent of Student Support Services

School Committee Agenda Item Summary

Date:

September 4, 2019

Prepared By:

Jon Bell, Principal of Douglas Elementary

Reviewed By:

Kevin Maines, Superintendent of Schools

Subject:

Instrumental Music Lesson Changes

Background

Last year we added fourth and fifth grade before and after school instrumental music lessons. These lessons were taught during 7 different sessions before and after school throughout the year. We began the year with 64 students participating, 32 of which were fourth graders. At the end of the year, only 6 of those fourth graders indicated that they would be participating again in 5th grade. After having all music teachers in the district collaborate on how to best offer a sustainable instrumental music program, we are proposing to make the following changes:

- Offer band for 5th graders only
- Reduce the number of lessons from 7 per week to 5 per week
- Incorporate a band ensemble practice once a month after school
- During general music classes, move the unit on recorders from 3rd grade to 4th grade

Discussion/Analysis

Based on our experience last year and current research, teaching most instruments to students prior to fifth grade is not developmentally appropriate. Our music teachers are passionate about growing the band program within the district and feel that these changes will best accomplish this goal. Mr. Moniz has already talked to our fifth graders about playing an instrument and we anticipate having 20-25 students participate, which is about a quarter of our students. In order to move from 7 lessons to 5, clarinet and saxophone will be combined due to their similarities and French horn will no longer be offered since it is not developmentally appropriate.

Financial Impact

Reducing the number of days lessons are offered from 7 to 5 will change the stipend from \$2,338 to \$1,670 for a savings of \$668. There are no other anticipated financial impacts.

Recommendation

If the School Committee is in agreement, the following motion is recommended for approval:

MOVE to approve a reduction in the FY 2020 DES Before/After School Instrumental Music stipend from \$2,338 to \$1,670, a reduction of \$668, due to a reduction in the number of lessons from 7 to 5 per week and elimination of grade 4 lessons.

Attachments

None

Excellence in Education

- 1

September 4, 2019

SCHOOL COMMITTEE MEETING

The September 4, 2019 School Committee (SC) meeting was called to order by Brett Argall at 7:00 PM. He reported that the meeting is being broadcast live and recorded for future rebroadcasting.

<u>School Committee Members present</u>: Brett Argall (Chair), Lisa Brown (Secretary), Becky Charniak, Kelli Grady (Vice Chair), Julie Moulder

School Committee Members Absent:

Non-Voting: Business & Operations Manager Cortney Keegan, Superintendent Kevin Maines

Pledge of Allegiance

Student Representative Report

There was no report.

Public Comment & Communication

There was no comment.

Old Business/New Business

Old Business: There was no old business.

New Business: Superintendent Maines stated that 2 treadmills and 2 ellipticals in the fitness room have been declared no longer usable. They are at least 15 years old. A plan needs to be developed to replace them at a cost of approximately \$18,000.

Superintendent's Report

Opening Day Update

Superintendent Maines clarified that new hires are not all new positions. Many new hires are replacements for staff for which there was a retirement or otherwise did not return to Douglas. Each principal joined the meeting and spoke about Opening Day, enrollment and new hires in their respective schools, including how well the buildings and grounds were prepared, enthusiastic staff and students, and new schedules which include common planning time. Overall, everything went well on opening day.

Ms. Socha of DPS stated that the total enrollment is 251: 61 pre-k, 98 in kindergarten (19-20/class), 92 first grade students (23/class), 14 teachers, and 15 paraprofessionals/ABAs. New hires included the replacement of a school nurse, replacement for a retirement, a new kindergarten teacher, a kindergarten teacher to replace a retirement, and a replacement for a Special Education teacher.

Mr. Bell of DES stated that the total enrollment is 363, 22 of whom are new to the district. There are 79 students in second grade, 96 in each of third and fourth grades, and 92 in fifth grade. He requested that fifth grade be closed to School Choice students. Class sizes range from 19-25 students/class. Hires since the last meeting include an inclusion paraprofessional and a Flex paraprofessional.

Ms. Urquhart joined the meeting and stated that there are currently 262 Special Education students, 89 of whom are on section 504 plans, and many new hires. The Flex Center program exists across the district. She encouraged families to attend the DPAC meetings. She would like to add an annual discussion regarding Child Find. Her discussion included, Best Buddies, the Unified Sports Program, and mid-cycle review due next year. She stated that Teen Night Out for this Friday has been cancelled due to the threat of Eastern Equine Encephalitis (EEE).

Mr. Delaney of DMS stated that the total enrollment is 309: 84 in sixth grade, 106 in seventh grade, and 119 eighth grade. New hires include a teacher for the STEM program, a new eighth grade Special Education teacher, and a number of paraprofessionals.

Mr. Romano of DHS stated that the total enrollment 372: 80 in ninth grade, 92 in tenth grade, 93 in eleventh grade, and 107 in twelfth grade. The only new hires are a new Special Education teacher and three paraprofessionals. Two early challenges included EEE and the brief presence of a Swiss film crew. Mr. Romano spoke about new collaborative instruction, e-sports, a DHS fire drill record, and a full peer mentor program. DHS is piloting a new backpack policy where students can walk around school with their backpacks.

Ms. Moulder asked if there is a plan for random backpack checks. Mr. Romano stated that there

are privacy laws that would not allow such searches.

Ms. Moulder asked for the policy regarding bug spray, specifically related to outdoor sports. Mr. Romano replied that the district cannot provide bug spray. Ms. Moulder suggested that perhaps the Athletic Boosters could provide bug spray. Mr. Romano suggested that the Team Moms could organize something.

Superintendent Maines stated that the School Choice number is 121 students: 11 at DPS, 29 at DES, 51 at DHS, and 30 at DMS. The following grades have already been closed for School Choice: kindergarten and grades 1, 3, 4, and 8. The following grades have openings: grades 2, 6 and the high school

-Ms. Grady made a motion to close grades 5 and 7 to School Choice for the remainder of the school year. Ms. Charniak seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

Superintendent Maines reminded the public about parking at DES and DPS for Open House.

<u>Enrollment Update</u>

See "Opening Day" above.

New Hires Update

See "Opening Day" above.

School Committee & Sub-Committee Report

Accounts Payable Report

Ms. Brown stated that on 8/15/19 Ms. Charniak signed 4 batches totaling \$76,005.78 and on 8/22/19 she signed 5 batches totaling \$63,259.50.

Consent Agenda

Minutes: August 8 and August 14, 2019

Approval of the August 8, 2019 School Committee meeting minutes was deferred to the next meeting.

-Ms. Grady made a motion to approve the August 14, 2019 School Committee meeting minutes as presented. Ms. Charniak seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-4, Ms. Moulder abstained.

DES-Disposal of Broken Furniture

Mr. Bell joined the meeting and asked to dispose of 17 broken student chairs and one desk.

-Ms. Brown made a motion to approve the disposal of 17 student chairs and 1 student desk at the elementary school that are broken and beyond repair and have no salvage value. Ms. Grady seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

DES-Instrumental Music Lesson Changes

Mr. Bell joined the meeting and stated that 64 4th and 5th graders participated at the start of last year. Participation significantly declined over the year. Many instruments are not developmentally appropriate for 4th graders. Mr. Bell and the music staff recommend offering lessons to just the 5th grade and reducing the number of lessons from 7 to 5 per week. French horn will no longer be offered. They

are also recommending moving recorder instruction from 3^{rd} to 4^{th} grade. These changes will result in a savings of \$668.

Superintendent Maines has spoken with the Douglas Teachers Association (DTA) and they feel the reduction makes sense and the stipend will be reduced, however documentation has not yet been received.

Ms. Moulder and Mr. Argall spoke in favor of allowing an ambitious 4th grader to take instrument lessons. Mr. Bell agreed.

-Ms. Charniak made a motion to approve a reduction in the FY2020 DES before and after school instrumental music stipend from \$2,338 to \$1,670, a reduction of \$668, due to a reduction in the number of lessons from 7 to 5 per week and elimination of grade 4 lessons. This vote to take effect upon written approval from the Douglas Teachers Association. Ms. Moulder seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

DMS-Out-of-State Cross Country Meet

Mr. Delaney joined the meeting and asked for permission for the DMS cross country team to travel to RI to compete in an invitational. Due to the threat of EEE, no one will be running in the woods.

-Ms. Brown made a motion to approve the DMS cross country team's travel to North Kingston, Rhode Island on 9/27/19. Ms. Grady seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

DMS-Best Buddies Stipend

Mr. Delaney joined the meeting. He stated that Best Buddies is continuing on from last year and has the opportunity to extend into DHS with unified sports.

-Ms. Grady made a motion to approve a stipend in the amount of \$701 for the DMS Best Buddies advisor beginning the 2019-2020 school year. Ms. Brown seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

DHS-Disposal of Damaged Computer Tables

Mr. Romano joined the meeting and asked to dispose of damaged computer tables.

-Ms. Brown made a motion to approve the disposal of 4 computer tables at the high school that are unusable and have no salvage value. Ms. Charniak seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

School Business and Operations Manager Report

Other Business

Ms. Keegan approved two Saturdays of overtime for those working to get the schools ready to open for the year. The School Lunch Program prepared an Opening Day breakfast. Ms. Keegan, Superintendent Maines and all the SC members thanked everyone involved in getting the schools and grounds ready for Opening Day.

Transfers and Reclassifications

There were no transfers or reclassifications.

School Bus Transportation Update

Ms. Keegan stated that they did not need to use the bus they had on standby. There was crowding on bus #11, however the issue has been resolved as Tellstone will use a 47-passenger bus at no additional charge. Bus #2 on the DES route was late the first few days, and Tellstone has made some adjustments to correct that issue.

Neither Superintendent Maines nor Ms. Keegan are aware of increased traffic concerns or issues caused by the reduction in the number of routes.

Other Topics

Superintendent Maines stated that he received an email that states that the Dept. of Elementary and Secondary Education's FY2020 budget appropriation includes an earmark of not less than \$45,000 to be expended for technology upgrades for the Douglas Public Schools District. This money will be used

to purchase Chromebooks for DMS. The Chromebooks purchased through the School Choice budget arrived yesterday.

Mr. Romano joined the meeting with a request from the cross country coach asking to hold practice this Saturday morning in Thompson, CT due to the EEE threat. Students would provide their own transportation. Mr. Romano will check with Thompson's Board of Health before the weekend to be sure there is no EEE threat

-Ms. Charniak made a motion to approve the DHS cross country team's travel to Thompson, CT to practice as long as there is no EEE threat. Ms. Moulder seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

Adjournment

-Ms. Moulder made a motion at 8:04 PM to adjourn the School Committee meeting. Ms. Charniak seconded the motion. Vote: Aye-5.

Respectfully Submitted,

Mary Wright Recording Secretary